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* * *
1. Elizabeth
* * *

Elizabeth sat tightly in her chair-- achair ordinarily occupied only by very important people.

The man on the other Sde of the desk, the senior-most partner of the most prestigiouslaw firmin
Washington, DC, had called her in from her little cubbyhole. Why? What horror had she, amere junior
associate, committed that required the persond attention of Barrington Wright? She was going to be
fired. Shejust knew it.

Cocooned in tight invisible armor, Wright peered over at her somberly: "Ms. Gerard, do you know
what TM is?'

TM? She thought. What the hell was that? Was she supposed to know? She suspected not. So just
tell him thetruth. "No, gr. | don't think I've ever heard of it."

She watched hisface covertly. Y es, the muscles around his mouth seemed to relax. She had passed
some sort of test. She hadn't known what TM was, and for some reason that was good.

He said in a soft monotone, "There are only ten personsin the world with TM clearance. That number
includes mysdlf-- and now, you."

She blinked. They were not about to fire her. Quite the contrary.

"TM,™ said Wright, watching her, "meanstime machine."

She knew she heard him clearly, but it made no sense. She waited.

"A dient," he sad, "hasinvented atime machine. Theoreticdly, it works. Our Mr. Pdllar prepared and
filed apatent gpplication on it." He paused and looked at hiswatch. "I had expected him to Sit in with us,
but he has been delayed coming in from the airport. So well go ahead with the preliminaries. To
continue, the patent office has placed our patent application in interference with another application,
earlier filed, and directed to the same invention.” He paused and looked over at her.

She nodded. C. Cuthbert Pellar was evidently one of the charter members of thisTM club. Pellar the
Couth. Wright's clone, they called him-- but not to hisface.

Wright was saying something to her. "Do you follow?"

"Yes, sr. We're junior party. To win the interference, we have to prove that our client isthefirst
inventor.”

"And what would that involve?"

"Wed need at least aprior conception, properly confirmed, with agood showing of diligenceleading
to actua reduction to practice.”

"And what if the client can't do any of that?"

"Then somebody should tell him he can't win. At least save him the cost of usdlesslitigation.”

"That's good advice, ordinarily. But hereit'sabit more complicated. Our client isthe Department of
Defens=”

"And Defensewont let you give up?'



"Exactly. So what do we do now, Ms. Gerard?"

"Find someredly close prior art, then move to dissolve the interference, as unpatentable to elther
party. That way, nobody gets a patent, but DOD will be freeto usetheinvention.”

She knew very well they didn't have any "redlly close prior art,”" and that somehow she would be
involved in remedying the omission. It was beginning to come together.

Theintercom buzzed. "Y es?' said Wright, without turning.

“Mr. Pdlar, gr," said adisembodied female voice.

"Sendhimin."

C. Cuthbert Pdllar smiled ingratiatingly at the man who could make him partner, frowned remotely at
Elizabeth, and took theindicated chair.

"Nothing?' said Wright.

"Nothing, sr. Weve searched the entire field of US and foreign patents, and all the scientific literature.
Welve spent three months and three million dollars looking for areferenceto provethe TM isold in the
art. Wefound nothing." Helooked over at Elizabeth. Hisexpresson said plainly, "And she can't help.”

"As| explained earlier,” said the older man, "the DOD has examined the curricula vitae of every
employee of the firm, including the associates, not only for security reasons, but also looking for specia
skills" He held up aprintout, adjusted his spectacles, and studied the sheet. "Colonel Inman has called
my attention to certain interesting facetsin Ms. Gerard's background. She got her master's degreein
assembling and trandating ancient manuscripts. She has stack privilegesin maor internationd libraries.
Sheisreasonably fluent in severd foreign languages.”

"Sir," said Pdllar, "1 don't understand.”

Y eah, thought Elizabeth. Me ether.

"Simple," said Wright. "Weve exhausted the printed art; now we go farther back-- into the
manuscripts”

"But-- " began Pdllar.

"The client hasrequested it, Mr. Pdllar," said Wright firmly. "Please describe the machine to Ms.
Gerard, so that she can go to work."

"Oh, yes, sr. Of course, Sir. We can start with the interference count. | quote.” he haf-closed hiseyes
and began to rattle away in arhythmic sng-song. "Apparatus for shifting the space-time axis consisting of
(a) slver tubes containing heavy water and positioned to form atetrahedral framework; (b) asource of
EMF adapted to cause an electrical current to flow through said framework; (c) acubical crysta of
uraninite; and (d) amammal in cerebral eectrical contact with said EMF source and said uraninite.”

Son-of-a-gun, thought Elizabeth. He's memorized it. And meanwhile, she wasthinking... a
tetrahedron? Had she seen something... somewhere?

Pellar leered at her. "Well? Did you get it?'

He'smad a me dready, she thought. The first team spent three million and crapped out. So now the
problem is handed over to onelone femae junior associate. And the worst is yet to come, Cuthbert,
because | do indeed remember something. "Just aminute, please.” Shelet animage formin her mind.
Four equilatera triangles made of silver tubes... Where had she seen this? Something in manuscript. She
remembered the strange writing. She ran down amentd list of the mgor medieva mathematicians.
Geber... Kashi... Copernicus. No, none of them. How about the minors? Biagio de Ravenna... Paolo dal
Pozzo Toscandlli... two of the finest mathematicians of Renaissance Itay, and both had taught the boy
Leonardo daVinci.

Of course.

That's where she had seen the sketch. In acopy of apage from one of Leonardo's many notebooks.
Which one? There were dozens, and they were scattered in libraries al over theworld. Yes, shehad it
now. The quaderno so recently bought by the Library of Congress. "Gentlemen,” she said, "your time
machine may indeed have been described in the unprinted literature.”

The two men stared at her in puzzled sllence.

Pellar wasthefirgt to move. Helooked over at Wright. It was an expressive look, and it said, "You
see, Mr. Wright, thisiswhat you get when you bring in awoman.”



Elizabeth blushed, and fought the urge to clench her fists. Thisis the twenty-first century. Why do
we still have to put up with this?

"Ms. Gerard," said Wright gently, "would you excuse usfor amoment?”

"Of course." Sherose from her chair. They had decided she was usdless, and they were going to take
her off the case before shewas ever redly onit.

Like hell they were.

* * *

* * *
2. The Fax

* * *

She turned when she reached the door. "Before | go, 1'd like to mention that Leonardo da Vinci
described an apparatus very smilar to that of the interference count in Notebook 23, Codex 1V, pages
forty and forty-one. It'sin the data banks at the Library of Congress, and you can call up afax in
seconds, if you'reinterested.” She started out into the reception room.

"Ms. Gerard," Wright cdled quickly. "Just aminute, plesse.”

"Oh?'

Wright nodded toward his credenza. "Use my fax."

Shewalked back in, punched in the call, and the printer |asered the reply in less than three minutes.
The two men hovered over the machine. No room for Elizabeth. No matter. She had caught aglimpse: a
sketch of atetrahedron, pluslines of tiny elegant letters.

"Interesting,” admitted Wright. "Very. What doesthe writing say?' He handed it over to Pdllar.

The associate shook his head. "It'sall gobbledygook. Illegible. Worthless!™

"Hewroteright to left,” explained Elizabeth. "Y ou read it with amirror. | assumetheresonein Mr.
Wright's washroom?”'

"Sr?!

"Go ahead."

"It's- " began Elizabeth.

Pedllar pushed he aside, but after amoment he wailed from the little room: "I <till can't read it.”

"It'sin Itdian," said Elizabeth. Shewaked up behind him. "It says, 'A tetrahedron isrequired, of asize
such that a man can stand within. The four triangles are formed of silver tubes filled with water ditilled
from forty tuns by the achemist. Thetraveler sandsin the center of the base triangle. He attaches the
headband. He holds the black cube, and he attunes his mind to the... (hmm-- strange word here... ah...)
back-time. He sees- hmm... scacchiera... yes, chessboard. By means of thisassembly | was ableto
finish the Cenacolo for the friarsin Milan!™

"Chay-nak-0lo?" said Pdlar. "What's that?"

"The Last Supper,” explained Elizabeth. "He painted it on amonastery wal in Milan in the late 1400s."

"He used the apparatus to complete a painting?' asked Wright. "How? Why?"

"l don't know," said Elizabeth. "He doesn't say."

"But, gr," Pdllar said, "Five hundred years ago how could anybody know anything about space-time
and quantum physics? And especidly thisfellow Leonardo? He wasjust a painter.”

"Leonardo had an ultra-genius 1Q," Elizabeth answered stoutly. " Some psychologists placeit at 250,
some even at 300, beyond Einstein. He had brainpower adequate to create your TM. From the
description that he left, it appearsthat hedid just that.”

" Appears?" sneered Pdlar.

"I think we can nail it down, one way or the other,” declared Elizabeth.



Wright swiveled his chair to face her. "How?"

"Go back. Ask him."

"Him?"' said Pdlar blankly. "Who?'

"Leonardo,” explained Wright dryly. "Take his depostion.”

Pdllar was now totaly bewildered. "'l thought he was dead!™

"She means," Wright explained patiently, "usethe TM. Go back to Leonardo'stime. Find him. Take
his deposition. Ask him to explain his sketch. Isthat it, Ms. Gerard?"!

"Yes, ar."

"Fascinating,” mused Wright. "1t might give usthe exact art we need to dissolve the interference. When
did Leonardo make this sketch, Ms. Gerard? Any way to tell?"

"The date can befixed only roughly. It was dmost certainly after he finished The Last Supper, in
Milan, in 1498, but probably before he started the Mona Lisain Florence, which we think was 1503."

"So, where would we find Leonardo in 15037

"From March to June, 1503, hewasin Florence. He had atudio in the house of an affluent friend.”

Wright regarded her with interest. "What would the local s think about the machine? And its crew, for
that matter. Could you get in and out again safely?'

"Theres somerisk, but it could be minimized. Our Itaian associates could provide alist of aberghi--
inns-- complete with piazzas, that have been in existence in Florence since 1500. We would comein on
the piazza, just before dawn. 1t would be dark for afew more minutes. We dismantle the TM, pack it
away, and present ourselves, properly dressed, to the innkeeper.”

"So we check in," demanded Pdllar. "Then what?"

"We locate Leonardo, find aloca lawyer to swear him in, and proceed with the deposition.”

Wright studied the ceiling. "1t just might work." His eyes dropped back to her. "Ms. Gerard, just how
did you become interested in medieva manuscripts?’

"Well, g, to sort of sum it up and cut some corners, at American U. Two of my Professors were
international authoritiesin the Renaissance and itsincunabula. It ssemed the naturd thing to do.”

Wright nodded. "Y es. Undoubtedly awise decison. Still, quite acoincidence that it should offer such
possibilitiesin apatent interference.” He leaned forward, and now histone and manner were dl business.
"I'd like you to prepare amemorandum stating the essentials we'll need to consider for this deposition. I'll
go over it with Mr. Pellar and Colondl Inman, our contact at Defense. Further, would you please prepare
the necessary deposition notices.”

"Yes, gr." As she closed the door behind her, she heard:

"Mr. Pdlar, if you could stay amoment..." The syllables were harsh, clipped.

As she waked away she visuaized the probabl e tableau now going on behind her. Wright wouldn't
even rase hisvoice, but Pellar would perspire and wonder if he could still make partner. Findly, Wright
would suggest to Pdllar that he prepare a suitable memo to Colond Inman of the DOD, explaining why
he, Pellar, had wasted three million dollars before getting around to the Leonardo proposd. It made
absolutdy no difference that Pellar was essentidly blameless; it was smply the way things worked.

Anyhow, she wastoo exhilarated by her new assgnment to fed very sorry for Pellar. All that effort in
the Renaissance wasfinally paying off. She knew medieva Florence backwards and forwards. She knew
how to dress, what to wear. She could walk across the Piazzadel Sgnoria in 1500 and be taken for an
average housewife on her way to the panetteria. And the way thingswere going, it seemed quitelikely
that something like that was going to happen.

Shefloated dl the way back to her minuscule office. "Office" by courtesy, that is. It lay between the
copier room and the men's washroom, but it had been remodeled for her, because there was nowhere
elseto put her. The male associates had to walk behind her desk to get to the washroom door.

There were two pictures on her desk. One was agood miniature of the Mona Lisa, the other aphoto
of the house where she had been born and raised, back in Naples, Texas. She required the first because
in her estimation of the lady Lisawas the most beautiful woman in history. She kept the second asa
subgtitute for the redl thing. She dreamed of going home again, but she knew she probably never would.
She couldn't face her mother's highly vocal accusation: "Twenty-eight and still not married!”



Meanwhile, stop dreaming and get out the form book! Fix up a notice for Mr. Wright to sign
and send to... who was opposing lead counsel? Larvey? Yes, Ralph Larvey, of Getterfield, White.
Right down the street. Welcome to 1503, counselor!

* * *

3. Like a Smothered Mate

* * *

At the appointed time Elizabeth and Pellar drove out to the army complex near Manassas, Virginia, to
meet Colonel Inman and receive ingruction in operating the TM.

The colond was atdll, thin, gray-haired man. Elizabeth knew very little about him, just that he was
married, with children grown and gone away. He had severd graduate degrees, including physicsand
law, and now he ran Specia Assets.

She dso knew that the colond's consuming interest just at present was to resist buying the opposing
Rosso patent gpplication, which had been offered to the Army for one hundred million dollars.

The officer led them down agravel path to a Quonset hut. He unlocked the door, flipped aight switch,
and they walked in. A seven-foot plywood tetrahedron stood in the center of the chamber.

"| thought the TM wasjust aframework of tubing," Elizabeth said.

"Thered thingis" explained Inman. "Whéat you see hereisjust atrainer, to familiarize you with the
controls. We want to minimize use of the real thing. Y ou've heard of the 'space-break’ theory?"

Elizabeth nodded. One of the top DOD physicists had atheory the TM could break the time-space
barrier only alimited number of times. After that, the TM wouldn't work.

"Whereisthered thing?' asked Pellar.

Elizabeth had dready figured that out. Over againgt the far wall stood a nondescript leather vaise. By
her calculations, if the tubes of the framework were unscrewed into quarters and stored with battery
pack and computer console, it al ought to fit into that valise.

"It'sin asafe place," answered Inman noncommittally. He held open the door of the smulator and
turned on asmal fluorescent. They joined himinsde.

"There'sroom for three travelers and these two cases," he said. ""One case can hold the dismantled
tetrahedron, including the console and battery pack. The other isintended for materias you'll need for
your deposition. Take alook." He asked Elizabeth, "Is one case big enough for your needs?!

"Hmm. TheIBM trandator and printer will fit nicely, but there may be a space problem with our
power pack. Do you think we could use the TM pack?'

"What power will you need?' asked Inman.

"One hundred watts, for probably two to three hours.”

"The TM pack can easily provide that. Now then, let's go on. I'm sure you both know the theory of
theinvention. It's based on the University of Arizona process of cold fusion. In that process, heavy water
fusesto helium-four and makes hest. SSimple, eh? Actudly, not so smple. More heavy water was
disappearing than could be accounted for in recovered helium-four. Asa Green, our inventor, discovered
the loss was going into positive He-4-- antimatter-- which was not detectable because it was being
consumed by driving the synthesis gpparatus into the past. In the interests of efficiency and control, Green
developed the tetrahedra frame of silver pipes. The heavy water circulatesin each fractiona pipe section.
For control of gross movement he usesacrystal of black uranium oxide, linked to the console and
framework by an eectrica conductor. For fine tuning he uses aheadband’-- heindicated acirclet of thin
gold braid-- "dso linked to the console. Thisway the 'driver' maintains continuing contact with the
gynthess process within the Slver tubes.”



"Just exactly what doesthis'continuing contact’ fed like?" asked Elizabeth.

"It'savisud thing," said Inman, "experienced by images created in the occipital lobe. Sort of like
getting conked on the head and seeing stars, except there's no pain, and instead of stars you see shifting
geometric patterns. Do you play chess?"

She had taken firgt prizein the DC Open last year. She aid cautioudy, "1 know the moves."

"SodoI!" Pellar chimedin.

"Very good. Look at it thisway: time movesin quanta-- seen mentaly as frames of a chessboard.
Each moment differs from the next by changesin position of the ‘chess pieces on the frames. Asyou
stand in the TM and approach your destination, it may seem that the pieces are clumping around a central
point, rather like pawns and pieces sheltering aking at chess. It's up to you to select thefinal pointin
time. Quite like cross hairsin the center of abull's-eye, or aknight making a smothered mate. If you'rea
fair chessplayer you'll have no trouble running the TM. So let's Sart.”

"Mefirg," said Pellar.

Inman smiled faintly as he handed the lawyer the smdl black cube of uraninite, and then agold circlet.
Both were attached to the console by insulated wires. "Ready?!

"Ready."

There was a sharp metdlic click asInman closed the triangular door.

Pellar jerked. "Hey!" He dropped the black crystal. "Y ou didn't say it was gong to be like this™

Inman grinned. "Try again, Mr. Pdllar. Thistime, close your eyes and imagine you're a class master,
playing blindfold."”

Pellar tried afew more times, achieved a debatable competence, then passed the headband and
crysta over to Elizabeth.

She caught the hang of it in seconds. She asked Inman, "When we return, do we use the same
technique?'

"No. Coming back is much smpler. Y ou don't need the headband or the crystd. Y ou just dam the
tetrahedrd 'door,’ and you zoom right back. Y ou'll cometo ajarring hat at your exact starting time and
place.” Helooked at them both and smiled. "I think we're ready for Florence.”

*

* *

* * *
4. Florence
* * *

Elizabeth, Pellar, and the colond were drinking cappuccinos under the awning of an outdoor cafe on
the Piazzadd Sgnoria.

Pdllar kept glancing at hiswristwatch. "Larvey'slate.”

Inman shrugged. "Do you know him?"

"Only by reputation.”

"Same here. Apparently he's adeposition wizard. I've studied dl his past depositionsthat | can find.
He's clever, sneaky, dangerous, dippery, treacherous.”

"Yeah," sad Pdlar ancerely. "A credit to the bar.”

Inman looked acrossthe table at Elizabeth. His mouth twitched.

She amiled faintly back at him. She knew that Inman had inssted she take the TM training dlong with
Pellar and that she be amember of thetime travel group. Pdllar had resisted bitterly, and finaly they had
compromised. Pellar could drive the machine. She would be the language link with Leonardo and the
other FHorentines.

"Thismay be our boy now, coming acrossthe square,” said Pdllar. "Yes, it's Larvey." He stood up and



waved.

Elizabeth observed the approaching lawyer carefully. He was about forty, hair thinning but no gray. A
wide smile. Too wide, she decided.

Pdlar made the introductions. He explained and excused Elizabeth's presence: " She speaks medieva
Itdian. Sort of atour guide.”

Let it stand, she thought.

They got down to business. Next stop, the costumer's.

* * *

"Attire must be smple, yet degant,” Elizabeth explained. "For you chaps, tunics and tights, with
citizen's caps and soft leather boots. Tunics may be silk brocade, stitched with gold thread, with fur trim
on cuffsand collars. Matching cloaks recommended. | shdl wear gray silk, covering aplurdity of
petticoats, with asingle strand of pearls. All thesethings are available locally.”

"For the costume ball at the embassy?"' the shop manager asked politely.

"Something like that," said Elizabeth. She watched the two men preen in thefitting room. Pellar had a
good figure. Hislegs modded beautifully in the close-fitting tights-- tights rather like awoman's panty
hose, except of heavier materid. The tunic desgn wastruly exquisite: red roseswoven into alight blue
background, and embroidered with gold and silver threads and paste diamonds and pearls. The outfit
was completed with Gucci shoes of soft black leather, and for the tunic, abig gold buckle. Asthey
watched, the tailor draped a knee-length cloak over the lawyer and turned him into the mirror.

Impressive, thought Elizabeth.

Larvey was smilarly dressed. He caught the spirit, and pirouetted like a ballet dancer.

* * *

The once-piazza of the Cigno Nero, now afifty-car parking lot, was duly cleared and closed for the
night, and in the cover of darknessthe TM crew set up the big canvas tent and brought in the two cases.
Under Elizabeth's critica eye Pellar opened the case containing the knocked-down TM and began
reassembly. Colond Inman looked on silently. Twenty minutes and afew bungles and curseslater, it was
ready. And now alast-minute flashlight ingpection of her two companions. Clothing, hats, cloaks, al OK.
Next, the travel case. She unbuckled the leather straps, raised the lid, and pushed aside shaving kitsand
extraunderwear. The IBM trandator/camcorder wasin place. Everything ready? she asked hersdlf. Not
necessarily. She stood up and faced the men. "I think we should make sure the IBM is till in working
order."

"| dready tested it," Pellar said tiffly.

"Here?"

"No, back in DC"

"It's had severd plane rides and taxi rides since then.”

"If it bothersyou," mumbled Pdllar, "go ahead. Test it again.”

Silently, she removed the unit from the case, then opened the TM storage locker, got out the power
pack, plugged it into the Sde of the IBM, and flipped the switch. A greed LED flashed in front of the
trandator box. "IBM," she said, "are you operationa? Per italiano?"

A well-modulated baritone rose from the box. "Y es. I'm ready. Posso chiederle chi €?"

"l don't believe we've met. 1o sono la signorina Elizabeth Gerard."

"Ah, Sgnorina Gerard, sono molto licto di fare la sua conoscenza.”

"Graze. Do you fed competent to take a patent depostion in Italian?”'

ng

"Knock it off, Elizabeth,” growled Pdllar. "The machineisworking. Let'sgo!"
"Yes" shesad. "Seeyou later, Mr. IBM.."

"Arrivederci, signorina.”



She pulled the plug and repacked everything. "Gentlemen,” she told the two lawyers, "you may get
ingde." Shemoved in with them, handed the flashlight out to Inman, picked up the unlit lantern from the
TM console, and looked around for the tinder box with itsflint and stedl. She found it, flicked away for a
moment, and got plenty of sparks, none of which ignited the exposed wick. She paused, frustrated.

"Hey, no problem,” said Larvey. He pulled out a cigarette lighter, flicked it once, and touched the
flameto the wick. Shetook the lighter from him and stuck it into her waist-purse. "By golly, Ralph,” she
sad thoughtfully, "if you do that in 1500 Horence, they will probably lay acommemoretive plaque for
you."
"A plague?' He smiled uncertainly.

"A plague. It would read, 'Here we burned the English sorcerer, Raphadl of Larvey.™

"Oh. Sorry."

She closed the triangular door with asatisfying click. "OK, Cuthbert, take it away."

Thelawyer pulled the circlet over hisforehead, then plugged it into the console. He began adjusting
dids.

In the semi-dark she stole covert glances at Pellar and Larvey. Were they as scared as she? Quite
likely, she thought. Shetook along deep breath. Out beyond the silver tubes she thought she could make
out the vague form of the colonel. He kept fading in and out.

At that ingtant |nman, the tent, everything outside the tetrahedron-- shimmered and vanished.

* * *

5. Where |s 1503?

* * *

She watched Pellar as he studied the dia s with apparent competence. The days were whizzing by like
grobelights. Theretina lag soon merged everything into agray twilight.

She leaned forward and watched the three chronometer dias. year... day... hour. 1575... 1570...
1565... 1560. So far so good, she thought. But-- is he dowing? No, Cuthbert, don't dow here. He's
amost stopping! Water's seeping in! She spoke loudly in his ear. " Cuthbert, keep moving! Move! "

Therewasajar. "Cuthbert,” shewailed, "you've hit the Great Flood of 1558. Keep moving! If you
stop here, well drown!" She scurried to the rear of the tetrahedron and plucked the battery pack out of
the weter.

It took amoment for the message to sink in; then the senior associate accelerated so fast that it made
Elizabeth's head snap.

"Too fagt, Cuthbert,” she cried. "Y oull overshoot!"

"Shut up!" he shouted. " I'm driving!" But finally he eased to astop.

They looked out through the silver rods. It was early morning. The piazza was empty. Save for one...
man?... lying face down afew yards away.

"Sah..." She held her finger to her lipsinacal for silence. She listened. No sounds anywhere. She
sniffed theair. It was sour, sSickening.

She looked out toward the body again and her throat tightened. She forced a squeaky question.
"Cuthbert, are you surewerein theright time frame?”

He muttered, "Y eah, | guess s0."

"What year? Check your chronometer.”

"Check it yoursdf if you're so interested.”

Idiot, she thought. She replaced the power pack inits frame and was about to start forward to the
chronometer pand when she noted motion out in the piazza.



It wasarat, and it was headed for them.

Meanwhile Pdllar, perhaps influenced by atremolo in her voice, had returned to the instruments.
"Thirteen forty-eight,” he called back. " Are you happy now?'

Her calm astonished her. "Cuthbert, get us out of here.”

The lawyer responded blithely. "Maybe we should get out and look around.”

"Dammit, Cuthbert, will you listen? Thirteen forty-eight isthe year of the Black Deeth. Half the city
died. That's one of the dead ones over there. The plague is spread by fleas on rats. Like the one coming
now. There!" She pointed.

"Cuthbert,” urged Larvey, "let's get the hdll out!"

Pellar stared open-mouthed at the oncoming rodent.

"Cuthbert?' said Larvey weskly.

Elizabeth glided quietly over to Pdllar, eased the control band from his skull, and pulled it down over
her head. He didn't protest. She doubted that he realized she had taken over. She adjusted the indicators
quickly. The chesshoard patterns began to comein. Slowly at first. A day. Another day. Then faster and
faster. Flash flash flicker flicker. A week, amonth. Faster. A year.

Shevisudized the cross-hairslining up in her occipital lobe. The right year. 1503. She checked the
chronometer pand. The right month. April. And then the right day and the right hour-- minutes before
daybreak.

They were there. She unplugged the cable but left the gold circlet on her head.

Pellar flashed alook of utter hatred at her.

* * *
* * *

6. 11 Cigno Nero
* * *

She held the lantern high and looked through the silver framework out into darkened piazza.

No movement anywhere. No sounds. That would change very soon. Dawn would be her in avery few
minutes. The watch would open the city gates. The streets would begin to fill with people and carts. She
looked at the men. "All clear, boys. Let'smovel" She held the light while the two men unscrewed the
tubing and loaded it into the TM case. "OK, now let'srouse il locandiere.” Sherattled the handle of the
great iron-studded portd.

"Hey, it'slocked!" complained Pellar. "Now what?'

"Weknock." She picked up the bronze hammer, dangling from its chain, found the approximate center
of the knocker plate, and gave it a hefty bang. The door rattled and sang with the stroke, and the piazza
reverberated. She banged again. And again.

In the middle of the last assault the peep door beside the plate opened, and two bleary eyes peered
out. A hidden mouth rasped: " Non C'e stanza... non c'e stanza... va... va... va! " No room... go away!

Shereached into her pocket bourse and picked out afreshly minted gold florin. With her other hand
she held up the lantern. The coin flashed.

"We shall require the entirefirst floor," she declared in firm Italian. Intheloca custom, she knew, that
meant the second floor.

"All taken..." gurgled theinnkeeper. But his eyes never |eft the coin.

"Quanti clienti?" she asked. How many guests?

"Otto." Eight.

"How much for each, the night?"

"Forty soldi.”



"Y ou mistake yourself, innkeeper. | know it to be ten soldi, rules of the Innkeepers Guild. No matter.
Return their money. Doubleit. Nay, tripleit. Roust them out. For your trouble take the florin."

She heard the creak of diding bars and chains being unlatched. The door opened acrack. " Sgnorina,
come around here, per favore."

Shetook astep to the right and held the coin up by thumb and forefinger.

A fat bare arm flashed out. The coin vanished. The door clanged shut. After amoment the door grated
fully open. Theinnkeeper, dill in the process of trying to fasten histunic belt, looked out into the
courtyard. "Dov'e la vostra carrozza?" Whereisyour carriage?

"Onitsway back to Pisa. Now, will we comein, or not?"

"Oh, s si. Comein, signorina, signori. Wife, get their bags.”

Elizabeth asked, "How do you call yourself?'

"Antonio-- Tony-- signorina, at your service. And thisismy wife, Anna." They both bowed
laborioudly.

"And who, signorina," asked the innkeeper, "honors my humble albergo?"

"A commission from HisMgesty, Henry, King of England,” shesaid camly. "'l shal explain certain
thingsto you &t the proper time."

"Of course, signorina, of course." Host and hostess ran greedy eyes over the newcomers, noting the
rich clothing and especidly the string of pearls around the woman's throat.

Wife pulled husband aside and held a hurried discussion with him. He turned back to Elizabeth with a
face radiant with woe. "I had forgotten various extra expenses.”

"How much?' shesad dryly.

"Two additiond florins. Three dtogether.”

She handed over the coins. "Now, Tony, let thisbe the end of it. It would grieve me to have to report
you to the Sgnoria.”

Helistened uneadily. "No, signorina, no need for that. Here-- " He handed back one coin. "Y ou see,
because of my lovefor your King Henry, | amwilling to lose money."

Like hell, she thought.

She looked around. They had entered the main room, acombined kitchen with fireplace, dining room,
and recreation room. There were severd tables with benches. Cuts of meat and fowl, together with
garlands of garlics, leeks, and onions, hung from hooks on the walls. Overhead, chickensroosted in the
eaves. Shetook a deep breath. These were the sights and smells of barnyard and kitchen on Grandfather
Gherardini'sfarm back in Texas. She was home.

She noted that her two companions were absorbing dl thisin growing horror. She suppressed agrin.

On thefar Sde of the room ablack-bearded man sat at atable, staring at them. Correction. Staring at
her. Ohwell, haveto expect it. Strangersin town. Very strange strangers. But he was abit odd, himself.
For therewas no plate or knifein front of him. Instead, a chess board.

She turned back to Tony. "We would like the rooms as soon as possible.”

"Of course! Of course!™ Hewiped hishands on his gpron and smiled effusively. "My wifewill prepare
your chambers. There may be adight delay. Shewill haveto, ah, negotiate with each of our patrons.
While we wait, would the signorina and her noble companions care for wine?!

"We decline for the moment. We will talk later of wine and other matters.”

"The gentlemen do not speak our language?’ asked the innkeeper.

"No, they speak only English. | interpret and trandate. | am called Elisabetta, and | am daughter of the
English ambassador in Napoli. This gentleman is Lord Cut'berto, of Georgetown; the other gentlemanis
Lord Rephad, of Arlington.”

"Ah... | see." Helooked them over shrewdly, then back to her. "Y ou are here to see-- him.”

"Him?" She knew exactly what he meant.

"Leonardo, signorina. Great men, rich men, they cometo him. Maestro, they beg, paint me, paint my
wife, my daughter, my favorite greyhound. But no. He paints only as he pleases. Meaning no disrespect,
milady, but | think if you eventry to find him, hewill vanish."

"But you could find him?"



He shrugged. "Perhaps.”
They wereinterrupted by an outburst of howls, shrieks, and imprecations from the rooms overhead.

*

7. A View of the River

* * *

The innkeeper smiled gpologeticdly but did not look up. "My good wifeis negotiating the refunds.
Y our roomswill be ready very soon.”

"What's dl that racket?' demanded Pdllar. "What's going on?"

Elizabeth pointed. A loud, disconsolate processon was stumbling down the broad oaken tairs: six
men, two women, their nakedness covered in varied degrees. Their complaints died avay when they
beheld the three regdl vigitors.

"Former occupants,” explained Elizabeth quietly. "Checking out.”

Eyes downcast, the ex-guests filed respectfully past the newcomers. Two or three turned off toward
the kitchen; the rest shuffled out the front door and disappeared.

Elizabeth faced Tony. "Y ou have done well. Here's your florin back. For this| want you to send up
variousthingsto eat and drink. We would like warm red wine, and various meats and fruits, together with
butter, cheese, and fresh-baked bread. Y ou can manage that?"

"Of course, noblelady.”

Haf an hour later, when they were properly instaled upgtairs, they reassembled in Elizabeth's room.
She handed the waiting innkeeper alittle package. "Five ducats for you, Tony, if you placethisin the
hands of Leonardo within the hour."

"Count it done, noble signorina." He turned to go.

"Wait-- a second matter."

"Oh?'

"Involving litigation. We require anotary, amember in good standing of the Guild of Judgesand
Notaries"

"A notary... Hm. There are several good ones, milady. What will be expected of him?"

"Itisameatter of lega deposition. | will be putting questions to awitness, and Lord Raphad will
cross-examine. Everything must be done in accordance with certain rules.”

"l see" said Antonio. "Let me think amoment. Y es, the best for this sort of thing is probably Sgnor
Rucdla."

"Rucellai”? How long has he been anotary?'

"Over twenty years, milady.”

"He comesin hereto dine occasondly?’

"Often, milady."

"He appreciates a good table?’

"He does, he does."

Very good. A profile was beginning to emerge. She sensed a complaisant functionary who would
render the necessary services without asking unnecessary questions and who could be relied upon to
spend mogt of histime at the Sde table. "His Chrigtian name?"

"Biagio, if you please.”

"He's our man, Tony. Please send for hisexcellency, Messer Biagio Rucdlla. Y ou may tell him that our
great King Henry appreciates prompt service.”

After heleft, she noted that the two men were nibbling at things on the sde table.



The morning was warming up. She walked over to the little window and looked out. [I Cigno Nero
was on adight rise, and she had anearly panoramic view of the city. There was the great cathedrd, with
Brunelleschi's famous dome. Beyond that, Giotto's campanile tower. And then the Arno and its beautiful
bridges. Downriver somewhere was the estate of Francesco Giocondo, whose wife Lisawould soon
enter immortdity at the hands of the great L eonardo. Leonardo had sworn to paint no more women, but
he had seen La Gioconda, and he had changed hismind.

Pdllar walked up behind her. "Y ou really ought to keep us better informed, Elizabeth. What wasin the
package? Where'sit going?'

"Oh, sorry, Cuthbert. Our landlord claims Leonardo sees no one. | figured we needed something
specid to attract hisattention. So | took Ralph's lighter and wrapped it in a photocopy of page forty-one
of the TM fascicle, and held it dl together with arubber band. A gift to Leonardo.”

"l don't get it," said Larvey.

"It'seasy, Raph. Your lighter tellshim we're from hisfuture, and page forty-one tells him how we got
here. Even the rubber band says something. Hell add it up, and helll come. Also, Ralph, | should mention
I've sent for alocal officer of the court. Meanwhile, wed better get the IBM set up. Cuthbert, would you
please put it under thislittle table. Y ou can drape acloth over the table to hideit, but make sure the lens
has agood view. Ral ph, would you close the door."

Larvey had hardly shut the door when there was aknock on the other side. He opened it a crack. It
was the innkeeper.

Elizabeth came over to the door and held abrief discussion with Antonio.

* * *

8. A Member of the Guild

* * *

"What'd he say?' demanded Larvey.

"The notary's downgtairs. Are we ready?' She examined the center table critically. The cloth seemed
to hidethe IBM trandator adequately. She turned back to Antonio. "Will you please bring him up?’

A moment later the innkeeper returned with ashort, fat, well-dressed gentleman. " Sgnorina, signore,
" said Tony with greast composure, "my privilege to introduce aleading notary of our fair city, the most
learned, brilliant, and wise Messer Biagio Rucdla.”

"Wethank you for your kind assistance, Antonio," said Elizabeth. She added with calm hauteur: ™Y ou
may leave usnow."

The innkeeper bowed once more and closed the door behind him.

Elizabeth turned to the newcomer and inspected the distinguished Messer Rucedllai inslence. It had
evidently been aconsderablelabor for him to mount the stairs, and he was il puffing. He worethe
characterigtic four-cornered hat of aworking Renaissance lawyer, adeliberately ambiguous forked
beard, and findly, and most importantly, the notary's robe, grave and somber with its broad black stripes
on dark red background. A leather pouch hung from a strap over one shoulder.

She amiled gracioudly. "We are honored, Messer Rucdllai. | am Lady Elisabetta of Napoli, daughter of
the English ambassador there. | am interpreter for these two gentlemen, who speak only English. This
gentlemanis Lord Cut'berto of Georgetown, and the other gentleman is Lord Raphadl of Arlington.”

The notary bowed deeply. "Milady... milords.”

Elizabeth continued. "We are here on acommission to see acertain citizen of Florence.”

"Oh, Of course. Y ou wish to commission apanting? A statue?’

Elizabeth interrupted. "No, nothing like that."



"No?Ah, | see. You wish to sue aHorentine, Yes?'

"Dammit, Elizabeth," complained Larvey. "What's going on? I'm entitled to know."

She turned back to him. "Of course you are, Ralph. Just turn on the IBM. The remote is there on the
table. Y ou can Sit over there by the window and get a good readout on the CRT. Y ou too, Cuthbert.”

And back to the notary. "Excuse the interruption, Messer Rucellai. The gentlemen are fatigued and
wishtores."

"Of course," he said dubioudly.

"But you and | will continue. Sue, you ask? No, not that, either. We merely require adeposition-- a
sworn statement from one of your citizens. The statement must be made in the presence of amember of
the Guild of Judges and Notaries, which isto say, yoursaf. The find document will require your sedl.”

"l am never without my sedl." He patted the leather pouch.

"Excellent, messer. These are bothersome little details, but I'm sure that an officid of your standing is
familiar with dl of them."

He bowed. "Naturaly.” He looked about the room. "But where is your deponent?”

"A messenger has been sent for him. We expect him at any moment." She paused. "And now, Messer
Rucdla, we cometo the matter of your fee."

"Fee? Fee? Oh, milady, you cut me to the quick. Members of the Guild serve dl, rich or poor, without
charge or fee." He drew closer and whirled his cloak so that the Side pocket gaped at her. "Y et, noble
signorina, we acknowledge that sometimes, completely unsolicited and totally unbeknownst to us, a
grateful client may pressamodest retainer upon us... such as may be within hismeans... or hers. A ducat
for theday, asit were." Hewatched her, a first with mild anticipation, and then with growing fascination
aswith dow hypnotic gestures she loosed the drawstring of her waist-bourse. He sensed the thud of a
heavy coin in his cloak pocked. He stifled a gasp. That was no mere ducat! That was-- gold! A florin!
Wasit possible?

He gathered dl his courage and continued hoarsdly: "Two, if the matter be complex.”

Clink!

Madredi Dio!

He closed hiseyes. "And for the guarantee of satisfaction in dl details, magjor and minor, for assurance
of complete harmony in al matters, expected or unexpected-- "

Clink!

Messer Rucellai began to perspire; he decided to quit while he was ahead. He sighed and closed up
hisfee pocket. "If milady will excuse the question, we come now to the crux of the matter. Who is your
deponent?'

"Leonardo daVinci."

He thought about that. "I must warn you, milady, Leonardo isavery independent man. If herefusesto
come, | will refund-- "

"No need for that, Messer Rucdlla," said Elizabeth. "In any case, | am certain that he will come.”

There was a heavy knock at the door.

"Entri!" cdled Elizabeth.

The door opened. A tall bearded man in arose-colored cloak stood in the doorway. Gray hair fell
loosely to his shoulders. He took off his cap and looked about the room with cool blue eyes. His
shoulders were broad; his hands surprisingly large. Elizabeth was ready to believe the storiesthat he
could straighten horseshoes with hisbare hands. Y et hisfeatures were fine, patrician, amost feminine.

His eyes came back to her.

* * *

9. Leonardo



For afull moment, with shameless candor, the trained anatomist examined her. He seemed to take
mental measurements of throat, breasts, waist. Then back to the face, estimating proportions of cheek,
brow, nose, lips.

He spokein alow resonant voice. "Y ou are very beautiful. | will paint you." He held up Larvey's
lighter. "Intime, how far away?'

Messer Rucedlla watched dl thiswith open mouth.

Elizabeth found asmal squesky voice. "Messer Leonardo, | am not beautiful, and I cannot imagine
why you would want to paint me. Aside from that, and before | answer your second question, please
indulge me amoment. | am called Elisabetta. And here is Raphagl, and there Cut'berto.” They dl traded
bows. "And you may know our honorable notary, Messer Biagio Rucdla?’

Artist and lawyer exchanged nods.

She continued. "Messer Rucellal has not yet had breakfast. Our host has provided certain nutriments,
al on the sdetable, with fine Tuscan breskfast wine. Wewill excuse you, Messer Rucdla, whileyou
attend to your breakfast.”

The notary got the message. Actualy, he had had bread and sausage within the hour, but he didn't like
to oppose this golden client. He hurried to the table and fell to.

Elizabeth returned her attention to the artist. “Messer Leonardo, we are from the year 2003. Welivein
the New World, discovered by Cristoforo Colon in 1492. In our day the New World has grown very
populous, and inventors have made greet discoveriesin the sciences. In my country we have a system of
lawsthat grants an inventor a seventeen-year monopoly on hisinvention. Our government issues a
document-- a patent-- to the inventor certifying to his monopoly. Sometimes two inventors seek patents
on the same invention. The government must then consider al facts, and issue the patent only to the first
inventor."

"But suppose neither isthefirst inventor?”

"In that case nobody gets a patent.” He catches on fast, she thought.

"And that'swhy you are here?' He held up the photocopy of page forty-one. Y ou think | invented the
mechine?'

"Did you?'

"y s

Shetook a deep breath. "Maestro, will you testify to that? We have a device here that will record
everything you say, trandateit into English, and will findly make a printout.”

"'Printout'?"

"Like the pages in the books of your Sgnor Manutius™

"l see" Hewasthoughtful. "Y our civilization seems quite advanced. All right. | will doiit.”

"Thank you. Firgt, the notary will have to swear you.” She caled over to the banquet bench. " Messer
Rucdla?!

The lawyer turned and acknowledged her signa with a sonorous belch.

Pellar shuddered.

"Messer Rucdla,” shesaid, "will you please administer the oath to Messer Leonardo?”

The notary wiped his mouth on hisdeeve, then, aided with amouthful of mutton, he mumbled a
polysyllabic litany.

"Thank you, Messer Rucdlla," said Elizabeth. "In alittle while we will need you again, to swear our
recorder.”

Leonardo looked puzzled. "Y ou will swear amachineto tell the truth?'

"Something like that. The deviceisnot only arecorder, it also servesas an interpreter. It trandates my
guestions and your answersinto English, so that Cut'berto and Raphagl may follow the course of the
deposition. Under our Code an interpreter hasto be sworn just as any other witness."

The artist shook his head in wonder.



She caled over to the notary. " Per favore, Messer Rucdla.”

“"Monna?"

"Please swear our interpreter.”

The notary looked about the room, then back to Elizabeth.

"He'sunder thetable," explained Elizabeth. "Y ou can't see him for the cloth.”

"Oh. That'sthe way it's done in England? How does he call himsdf?

"Sgnor Ibi Emme.”

Thenotary caled out: " Sgnor 1bi Emme!”

From under thetable: " Presente! "

"Sgnor Ibi Emme, do you solemnly swear to trandate accurately and completdly, in full idiom, from
onetongue to another, as required, adding nothing and omitting nothing, so help you God?"

"l do."

"Graze."

"Prego," sad Sgnor IBM.
Messer Rucellai exchanged nods with Elizabeth, then returned to histable.

* *

10. The Deposition

* * *

"I will speak in English for the benefit of attending counsdl,” Elizabeth told Leonardo, "and the IBM
mechinewill immediately trandateinto vocal and printed Itdian. Messer Larvey will follow the same
procedure. Y our responseswill bein Itaian, and they will be smilarly trandated into English. Isthat
satisfactory?”

The artist nodded. "Of course.”

She began. "Please state your full name and your residence.”

"Leonardo daVinci. | livein the house of AndreaMartdlli, in the Street of Brickmakers, Florence."

"What isyour occupation?’

"Painter, sculptor, civil and military engineer, architect, inventor.”

"Messer Leonardo, | hand you a sheet of paper purporting to show a geometric figure. Can you
identify this?"

"Yes. It'sacopy of apage from one of my notebooks."

" Showing-- what?"

"A sketch of atetrahedral machine for going back intime."

"Did you actudly make such amachine?’

"Asyou see from the sketch, it was shaped as atetrahedron, forming aframework of silver tubes.
Thesetubeswere four ellsonaside”

"Empty tubes?’

"No. They werefilled with specid water."

"Water from where?'

"From Dr. Marcos, alocal achemist. He had started with one hundred thousand jars of well water,
and over aperiod of ten years, he boiled it and boiled it, until only five jars were left."

"Objection,” intoned Larvey. "Hearsay."

Elizabeth said: "L et the record show that the specification of the party Rosso described such residues
asasource of heavy water. Let us continue. Messer Leonardo, what, if anything, was associated with the
framework?'



"A collection of dternating plates of copper and zinc. The plates were haf an el square and were
separated by thick felt paper soaked in vinegar. The collection was about two ls high. | attached asilver
wireto the topmost plate, which was copper, and another silver wire to the bottommost plate, which was
znc”

"What, if anything, did you do with this collection of meta plates?'

"| attached one of the silver wiresto the upper apex of the tetrahedron and the other to another apex.”

"Goon."

"I clasped the black cubein one hand.”

"Describe the cube, please.”

"Haf afinger on asde. Heavy for its Sze. Strange texture, somewhat reminiscent of pitch. It was
mined at Jachymov, in Bohemia, and was presented to Duke Ludovico asaminerd rarity.”

"L et the record show that the witness has described uraninite, or pitchblende. Now then, Messer
Leonardo, how did you cometo invent your time machine? What was your purpose?”’

The artist thought for along time. "It goes back to the cenacolo.”

"Meaning The Last Supper?'

"The Cenacolo, yes. The Duke Ludovico asked meto paint acenacolo for the Dominicans at their
monagtery in Milan, and | began the preliminariesin 1495."

"When did you finish?'

"In ninety-eight.”

"There were delays?'

"Actually, except for two faces, the work was completed within the first year."

"Which two faces?'

"QOur Lord... and Judas. | could not visualize the divinity of the one, nor the evil of the other. So |
delayed.”

"But eventudly you visudized thetwo?'

"| saw them. All of them: Jesus and the twelve."

She frowned. What was he saying?

He continued. "That'swhy | made the time-tetrahedron. So | could go back.”

"Towhen? And where?'

"To the Upper Room of the Last Supper. Nearly 1,500 years ago. | saw them all. Then | returned to
Milan, and | finished the faces™

"So you found..." But the words faded in midsentence. Hold on here! she thought. Other than thefinal
trip to France, where he died, there was no record that he had ever left Italy. And yet... and yet... she
knew hewasteling thetruth. In that year of the Crucifixion, he had been in Jerusdem. How? she
thought. How had he done thisimpossible thing? There was only oneway. He had set up hismachinein
Milan, and from there he moved practicdly ingtantaneoudy in both time and space!

The man understood things about the TM beyond their wildest imaginings.

Her companions were watching her in silence. Pellar's expression showed that he was merely curious
asto why she had stopped. Larvey's mouth was curled in asardonic grin. He knows, she thought. He
saw it dmost assoon as| did. Y ou're good, Ralph.

She began quietly. "Isit your testimony, Maestro, that you saw Jesus and the twelve disciples at the,
shdl we say, original Last Supper, in Jerusalem, in theyear 33 AD?"

"Y es. Except the year was 29 AD The early Christian fathers miscal culated the year of Hisbirth.”

"Y ou were actualy there?"

"Yes"

And now Pdllar waswaking up. He shot awarning glance at her. It said, he'slying! Back off!

Interesting. Larvey's face held the exact opposite message: Right on, Gerard! Go on! You're dready in
over your head. Screw it up!

Maybe Cuthbert's right, she thought. Maybe | should quit while I'm ahead. But then she caught
Larvey'swordless sneer. Wordless? No, it was full of words: Y ou're aweak, timid, incompetent female.

OK, Ralphie, that did it!



Back to the artist. "Messer Leonardo, how far is Jerusdem from Milan?!

He gave her acongratulatory smile. "Asthe crow flies, about 650 leagues.”

Larvey folded hisarms over his chest and watched with narrowing eyes.

She said with calm fataism, "How did you get your machineto Jerusdem?’

"Willpower, Monna."

Willpower? With that answer, had her witness thrown away his hard-earned claim to credibility?

Can't quit now, she thought. "Willpower, messer ?'

"It isno gresat thing, milady. With alittle practice, any |eft-handed person of fair intelligencecan doiit.”

"Clarify, please.”

"Yes. My studies of the human brain indicate that each of the two hemispheres has its own set of
gpecid functions. The right hemisphere controlsthe left sde of the body. It aso controls our sense of
pattern, geometries, visua arrangements, spatia positions. I'm sure dl thisiswell known to your
physicians and savants who work with the mind. isit not s0?"

"Much recent work has been done," agreed Elizabeth. "Go on."

"Wel, firgt, | set up the machine."

"Where?'

"In my sudio in the Sforza paace, in Milan."

"What next?'

"1 connected the wires, held the black crystd tightly, and then | concentrated on moving in both time
and space. | had aready decided that the journey toward Jerusalem of 29 AD should be made with
movement of two years and three months per league. Do you want the itinerary?"

"If you pleas.”

"Wll, past Florence, down the ridge of the Appenines, past Ravenna, over the Adriatic, through the
Straits of Otranto. Then over Macedonia and the land of the Ottomans. Next, the Sea of Crete. The year
isnow about 765, and I'm hafway there. Athens-- now a part of the Byzantine Empire-- isnext. Then
into the eastern Mediterranean, or Mare Internum, as the Romans caled it. By thetime | passed Rhodes,
| wasin the eraof the Caesars. Suddenly it'sthe first century and I'm over Jerusaem. | find the Garden
of Gethsemane. | |eave the tetrahedron there. It was the time of Passover, and everything is abusy mess.
The cooks and servantsignore me. | take an apron. | walk up those stairs." He paused, as though
thinking back on what he had seen next, then he took a deep breath. "The whole thing was over within
the hour.”

Elizabeth said: " So you found what you needed? Jesus? And Judas?'

"Yes, | found them, but | did not understand what | had found. Judas? | looked at that face, and |
looked for evil. | do not know. It wasthe face of horror, of despair.”

"And Jesus?' Elizabeth asked carefully.

The artist looked up at the ceiling. "It isnot easy to speak of this. After Judas|eft thetable, | saw the
face of Jesusthat | needed for the cenacolo: a sublime sadness. It wasthat facethat | tried to paint. |
failed. That face defied painting."

"Messer, when you returned from Jerusdlem to Milan, what did you do with the machine?!

"| destroyed it. My intrusion was aterrible thing. Never again.”

"Thank you, Maestro. That completes my direct. Cross, Mr. Larvey?'

"Yes, thank you, Ms. Gerard." He faced the arti<t.

* * *

11. Larvey on Cross

* * *



"Just a couple of short questions, Messer." He folded hisarms as he waited for the trandation. "Isit
your testimony that you journeyed some 1,500 years through time and some 650 leagues over land and
seq, dl within afragile metal framework?"

The artist pondered that. "Rather incredible, isn't it? And yet, surely it ismore probable than your claim
to have journeyed from atime that does not exist.”

"I.... well then, this Last Supper. Did they see you?"'

"They paid no attention to me. | wore an gpron. | carried in aplate of bread.”

"And adiceof lemon?’

"Lemon?’

"In copies of the painting that | have seen, therés alemon dice on the table. Do you redlize that lemons
weren't introduced into the Mediterranean area until the twelfth or thirteenth century?*

"No. | didn't know that."

"And you put everyone on one Side of thetable. It wasn't redlly that way, wasit? They were spaced al
around the table?'

"In the Upper Room, they were spaced around on both sides of the table. But in the painting | put
them al on thefar sde so the monks could see the faces.”

"And inthat alleged Upper Room, did they actudly st on along bench?’

"No. They sat on straw mats, on the floor."

"Your painting lied?"

"No. Inthe painting it was easier to see them, Stting on benches.”

"Did Judas actudly put hisbag of slver on the table?’

"No. That was symboalic."

" So there were many differencesin what you saw, or thought you saw, and what you painted?

"y es"

Larvey sneered. "You'reared bastard, aren't you?'

"Objection," said Elizabeth indignantly. "Counsd isinsulting the witness”

Leonardo shrugged. "Oh, | am not offended, Monna. True, | was born out of wedlock, but | honor
both my parents. | am especially proud of my mother, Caterina. She was aservant girl in an abergo
where my father stopped one night. That developed into an ardent love affair, but my grandfather da
Vinci forbade marriage. Thus, in 1452, | was born illegitimate.”

"Messer," said Larvey, "you have admitted your illegitimacy, and you have admitted fa sehoodsin your
paintings. | put it to you that you are not merely abastard-- you are a deceptive bastard.”

"Objection,” declared Elizabeth. "Counsd isagain insulting the witness. If you keep thisup, Mr.
Larvey, we shall terminate this deposition on the grounds of grosdy improper conduct by the party
Ros."

"| can prove deception, Ms. Gerard.”

"Thendoit."

"l will. Messer, you havefilled anumber of notebooks with sketches and written comments?”

"y e

"But your writing not iseadly read?’

"l canread it."

"But the ordinary layman needs amirror? Because you write deceptively-- from right to left?'

"l go right to left because | am left-handed. That's the easy way for me."

"Letit pass” Larvey sad huffily. "Y ou draw from life, Messer ?'

"Preferably.”

"But you like to draw demons and dragons?"

"On occason.”

"Have you ever seen ademon or adragon?”

"No."

"They're smply imagesin your head-- illusons?'



"y es"

"Likeyour illusons of building atime-gpace machine and vigting Jerusdem?”

"Objection.”

"Withdraw the question, and that completes my cross.”

"l have no redirect,” said Elizabeth. "It appears that we are finished, Messer .

The FHorentine stood up. " So now you will be going back with your friends?'

"Y es, tomorrow."

"| take weeks... to paint awoman'sface.”

"l know."

He dghed. "Wél, it must be. Y ou say we are finished here? | can leave?’

"Let me check." Shelooked over a Larvey. "1 think the printout isfinished. Do you want him to read
andggn?’

"No. | want him out of here."

"Messer," she said, "you have theright to read and sign the record. Do you want to do that?'

"No, I'd just as soon not, but I'd like to see what it looks like."

"Of course. Please come over here. Just let me get one more entry into the record.” She spoke quietly.
"The parties and the withesswaive reading and signature.” She waited amoment, then pulled the fan-fold
pack from the printer basket. "Thisisthe record. See, two columns, Italian and English. All our
questions, dl your answvers.”

"My congratulations,” he said softly.

They watched in sllence as he closed the door quietly behind him.

* * *

12. A Motion to Suppress

* * *

Elizabeth called over to the credenza. "Messer Rucdllal, can you join us here for amoment?”

Hewalked over, holding amutton chop in one hand and a half-capon in the other.

"We now need a certificate from you," she explained, "to the effect that you duly administered the oath
to Messer before the commencement of testimony.”

"Eadly provided, Monna."

"Y ou mean you actudly have with you such aform?"

"Yes, indeed." He placed chop and drumstick on the table top, wiped hisfingers on the cloth, and
pulled ashesf of papersfrom thefolds of hiscloak. "let's see. Eviction, divorce, complaint for money
owed, deed for the sale of land, ah, here we are, certificate for a deposition.”

Sheread it carefully. "Very good, messer . It conformsnicely. Will you pleasefill in Messer
Leonardo's name, then sgn and date it, and affix your seal? Should | send down for pen and ink?"

"No need, Monna." From another cavity in hisclothing he pulled alittleivory box, and fromthisa
small quill and stoppered vid of black liquid. Hefilled in the blanks with aflourish, waved the paper in the
air to dry theink, then pulled his sed from itsleather pouch and pressed it into the corner of the form.
"Anything further, Monna?"

"No, that'sdl, | think."

Helooked down at the half-eaten fowl and chop.

"Please" shesad.

He picked them up, then studied the table and its draping cloth. "Could | say goodbyeto Messer |bi
Emme?'



"Of course.”

The notary cdled out to theinvigble trandator. " Arrivederci, messer 1bi Emme."

Thereply floated up from under thetable. " Arrivederci, Messer Commendatore Notario. Sono
molto lieto di fare la sua conoscenza. Tante cose alla famiglia! "

"Piacere! Ciao!" The Horentine walked toward the door.

"What the hell wasthat all about?' asked Pdllar.

"They were just saying goodbye," said Elizabeth.

The door closed behind Rucdllal, and the three were alone.

"We're till ontherecord?’ asked Larvey.

Shelooked down at the green light on the IBM. "Yes."

Hesaid camly, "l move to suppress the entire deposition.”

Elizabeth and Pellar exchanged glances. The partner-aspirant shrugged. That noncha ant lift of the
shoulderstrandated into, "Elizabeth, you got usinto this. Y ou get usout.”

Shesad, "Mr. Larvey, will you please state the basis of your motion?”

"| certainly shal. You are familiar with 17 CFR 1.674(b)(3)?"

"I'm familiar with the sense of the section. A person who is an employee or agent of aparty is
disqualified as an officer for conducting the deposition. So?*

"An interpreter is considered an officer of the court. The IBM interpreter isyour property and under
your control. Henceit is your employee and agent. Hence disqudified." He smiled &t her.

"Ownership does not make the machine either our employee or our agent. In any case, the IBM isnot
a'person’ as cdled for under the relevant CFR section.”

"Hehasthird level Al," countered Larvey. "That's enough to give him apersondity, and abiased
persondlity, &t that."

She considered her opponent thoughtfully. Here, shetold hersdlf, isabitter, vengeful man. He knows
his only recourse now isto try to discredit the record. "Mr. Larvey, when did you discover this
disgudificationinthe IBM interpreter?”

"In the beginning.”

Shesaid, "Mr. IBM, will you please quote 37 CFR 1.685(c) in pertinent part for Mr. Larvey?'

"Of course. 'An eror or irregularity in the manner in which testimony is handled by the officer is
waived unless amotion to suppress the deposition isfiled as soon asthe error or irregularity is
discovered.”

Elizabeth smiled agreesbly. "Mr. Larvey, if you ever had any right to suppress, you waived it by not
making your motion &t the beginning of the of the deposition.” She paused. Therewas asilence.
"Surrebutta, Mr. Larvey?'

He gave her along strange look. For once she was glad for Pellar's presence in the room. She sensed
that Ralph Larvey very much wanted to beat her brains out. Larvey turned his face to the window and
did not reply.

Shefaced the IBM and spoke in alow monotone. " The Party Rosso offers no surrebuttal. These
proceedings are terminated.” She added, "And | think we might aswell disconnect the machine. Well
need dl that's |eft in the power pack for the return trip.” She leaned down and pressed the switch. The
little green LED went off.

What now?

Shewalked over to the credenza. The table was nearly stripped. Messer Rucdlla had been thorough.
Where had he put it all”? She wasn't hungry, but in discharge of her maternal duties she would reorder for
the two men. Not that they deserved anything.

* * *



13. The Bridge
*

* *

Shejoined Pdllar for supper in the adjacent ditting room. it was achilly evening, and she added a
couple of split oak logsto the fire before she sat down at the table.

Pdlar was expansive. "Well, Elizabeth, | didit. | pulled it off. | won. I'll make partner.”

She took a deep breath. Get control, Elizabeth! "Wherés Raph?

"Sulking in hisroom, probably plotting something wicked." He looked around the table. "Where are
the forks?'

"Forks won't be invented for another fifty years. Use your fingers."

"Damn primitives,” he muttered. He tore aleg off his roasts capon and started nibbling at it. "Good
stuff, Elizabeth."

"Cuthbert,” she said evenly, "if we are able to prevent Rosso from getting his patent, it will belargely
because of my efforts. | found the relevant notebook pages. | located Leonardo. | persuaded him to
testify, and | conducted the deposition.”

Pdllar replaced the half-eaten bird on his plate, wiped hisfingers on the table cloth, took asip of wine,
and sudied his recdcitrant companion with judicious mae eyes. "Of course, Elizabeth, of course. You
were abig help to me. So relax, and eat your supper.”

Likeagood girl, she thought. " Cuthbert," she said, "Because of my work, you'll soon be a partner,
with abig corner office where you can see the river, and with astaff of juniors and secretaries. If
anybody deservesto make partner, it should be me."

He stared at her, astonished. "But, Elizabeth," he sputtered, "you're a woman! "

Shegot to her feet unsteadily. "1 think I'll go for awak."

* * *

Brooding, she wandered the deserted twilight vias, |etting her thoughts and feet go where they would.
The narrow streets, most of them barely alleys, arched overhead with timbered walkways that made a
fretwork pattern against the darkening skies.

She passed the old stone bottega where the youthful Leonardo had been apprenticed to the great
Verrocchio. Art historians claimed the High Renai ssance-- the terzamaniera-- had been born in that
shed. She sighed and went on.

Y ou might aswell accept it, shetold hersdlf. Y ou will hang your tail between your legs, and you will
trail Pellar back to your office next to the men's washroom, and there you will finaly fade away.

She stopped and looked around. It was getting dark. Was she lost? No, wait, there's the approach to
abridge. Must be the Ponte Vecchio, "Old Bridge." Very ald, in fact. The foundation arches had been
laid by the Romans.

Downstream (she knew), bordering both sides of the Arno, began the considerable estates of
Francesco del Giocondo, the husband of Mona Lisa. Oh, Sgnora, how | wanted to meet you!

She squinted down river, but it was too dark to see anything, except maybe a half dozen lanterns just
off shore. Fishermen, at night? A bit strange. But she didn't redlly care anymore.

She returned to the arches, pulled off her dippers, and tossed them over the stonerail. Then she
clambered over therailing, screamed once, and dropped.

* * *

14. Francesco



Sheflailed and thrashed, now under, now breaking the tumultuous surface. Her struggles were
irrdlevant. Even if she now changed her mind, and wanted to live, she knew it was not possible.

She awokeinfitsand Sarts.

Her throat burned. Her gut ached.

Shefdt aflicker of heat on her cheeks. Shetried to sit up. She groaned and sank back into the
cushions of the greet chair.

Shewas wrapped in blankets, and she was facing an oversized fireplace, afroth with flame.

Behind her, someone spoke. It was amale voice, authoritative, yet gentle. She caught the words: "See
if sheiswaking."

Theface of achild-- agirl of someten or twelve years-- peered into hers, and broke into a happy
gmile. "Yes, Father, shewaked"

Elizabeth winced as her digphragm muscles cramped. Under the blankets, she put her hand on her
bare belly. I'm nude. Shetried to turn around to face the man.

"No, Monna," hesaid quickly. "Don't move. We will adjust the chair.”

Human forms materidized from nowhere and lifted and angled the chair so that she faced away from
thefireplace. A man stepped forward and bowed. " Monna, | am called Francesco.”

She beheld atdl man in hisearly forties, with dark hair and bushy black eyebrows. Sheimagined great
grength in the arms and shoulders. Warm intelligent eyes studied her face.

He nodded toward a short skinny man with bushy white hair and ablack cloak that seemed to
swalow him. "Thisis Doctor Marcos, who brought you back to life."

The doctor bowed modestly. (Marcos? Leonardo's a chemist? Oh, doc, she thought, how could you?)
But she pulled hersdlf together and inclined her head in silence. And now she understood why her
abdomen hurt. Marcos had used the current system of artificia respiration: they had draped her over a
horse, and they had trotted the poor anima in acircle until al the water in her lungs had been jolted out.

"My daughter Dianara,” continued the master.

The child curtsied. Elizabeth nodded gravely.

"And my overseer, Lucas, and hiswife Lucrezia. Becco, who helpsin the stables, and Maria, the finest
cook in Tuscany."

She nodded as appropriate, al the while thinking, Francesco... Dianara...? Could it be? She
whispered hoarsdly, "Francesco del Giocondo?'

"The same, Monna."

"Your lady," she blurted, "Monna Lisa? Sheis perhaps awvay?"

He frowned, puzzled. "Monna, | am awidower. Thereisno Monna Lisain my house.”

Elizabeth blushed under her pallor. God, what a faux pas! He hasn't meet her yet. "Oh, I'm sorry..."

Her confusion embarrassed him. ™Y ou are not from these parts?*

"No. | am cdled Elisabetta. | am from Napoli.”

"Wha-- ? Oh, Napoli!" said Giocondo. "Of course! Y ou're the interpreter with the Englishmen, at the
Cigno Nero."

It wasan invitation to talk but she didn't fed liketalking. "I must be getting back,” she said.

"Monna Elisabetta," said Giocondo doubtfully, "itislong after curfew. Y ou must stay heretonight.”

Hewas right. "Can a message be sent to the inn?"

"That we can do. A mounted courier with sword and lighted pistolet will escort the good doctor to his
home and then go on to the inn. What message shdl we take?”’

"Just say I'm safe and will return in the morning.”

"It will be done. And while | make the arrangements, the doctor would like you to take alittle wine.
It'sthered wine of Cyprus, thick, and mulled with pistachios and cloves. After that we will take you
upstairsto your room." He handed her asilver cup, haf-full. It was warm to the touch. Shetook asip. It
was ddicious.



She was only vaguely aware when someone took the cup from her hand, lifted her up, tucked the
blanket decently about her throat, and started upstairs with her. Messer Francesco, she thought dreamily,
you have awonderful maesmdl.

She was lowered gently into something soft. Somebody-- the cook-- was pulling a nightdress over
her, and tucking coverlets around her chin. She heard alittle girl's awed whisper, "Oh, Maria, sheisso
beautiful. Do you think shewill stay?"

The responding voice sounded dubious. "All will be as God wills. Come, child.”

She dept.
* * *

15. MonnalLisa

* * *

A noise-- noises, rather-- awakened her.

She listened to the sounds. They were coming from downgtairs. These were kitchen noises. Potsand
pans. Cutlery.

She remembered now that she had eaten nothing at al yesterday. With or without an invitation, she
was going down into that kitchen.

Where had they put her clothes? She looked over at the draped acove. She surmised that it was
actualy adressing room, hopefully with commode and wash basin. She walked barefoot over to thelittle
cubicle and pulled the drgpes aside. In the dim light she could see that her clothes had been washed,
dried, touched here and there with awarm iron, and hung with grest care on wooden rods.

No shoes, but therewas a pair of brand new dippers, evidently measured exactly to size.

She opened the commode lid. The bowl contained a scented liquid. Violets? And there, on the table,
wasaroll of fluffy linen paper.

She sighed. Ah, that Francesco! Is he why Monna Lisasmiled?

Andit'sredly very curious. Where is Lisa? He hasn't met her yet. But al the chronologies put her in
this house-- now.

She pulled her nightgown off and dressed quickly. She brought a measure of order to her hair with the
comb and brush she found on the washstand. She examined hersdlf in the dressing-room mirror. Plain but
tidy. She stepped out into the room and looked around. Her headband lay on a night stand by the bed.
She picked it up and pulled it on over her forehead.

That'swhen it hit her. She gasped once, then grabbed her abdomen in astruggle to breathe.

Shesaw it dl, complete: an integrated panorama. She will marry this good man. Shewill bed him. His
hands, his mouth, will be dl over her, touching, caressing, stroking, kissing.... Shewill glow, radiant asthe
full Moon. Truly, shewill be beautiful. Truly, Leonardo will paint her. Truly there will be amarvelous
portrait, and it will eventudly hang in the Louvre. For who is Monna Lisa? | am.

Not so fast, Elizabeth!

Therewas just one little problem: According to well-authenticated history, Monna Lisawould
accompany her husband on atrip to southern Italy some forty months from now, and there shewould die
of afever.

Widll, so beit. At least those forty months would be spent with people who loved her. And that's not
al. Tradition even gave her a seasonable pregnancy and alittle son.

So, Monna Lisato-be-- or Mong, as the English say-- let's get the show on theroad. Still breathing
hard, she pinched both cheeks ddlicately, just enough to give a spot of pink. Then she opened the door
and walked out into the hall.



Sheamedled it ingtantly. Coffee! In Italy so soon? She started dowly down the Sairs.

There was a scurry down below. Evidently someone had been set to watch for her.

And there, very suddenly, was Francesco Giocondo at the bottom of the stairs, holding out hisarmsin
wide and cheerful greting. "Monna Elisabettal Buon giorno! How did you deep?’

She amiled a him. "1 dept wonderfully well, Messer Francesco.”

"Then let us St down amoment and have something to drink, with bread and honey... or whatever
would pleaseyou."

Shetook aseat on the bench across the table from him. Mariasidled up beside her with plate, knife,
and spoon. "Wheat to drink, madonna?’ she asked softly. "Milk? Wine? Water?'

Elizabeth looked over at the dark liquid in Francesco's cup. What did they call it? Not coffee. That
came from the french word café, acentury later. "What drinks milord?" she asked.

"It is called mocha. The Venetians bring it in as beans from Mocha, the Arabian port. Mariaroasts and
grindsthe beans, and makes an infusion with boiling water. It isanew thing. It helpsoneto wake upin
themorning.”

"Redly? May | have ataste?"

"Of course." He passed the cup over. "Careful. It's hot, and you may find it somewhat bitter."

Shetook asip. "Ah!" She passed the cup back to Francesco, then looked up at the hovering. "I liked
that. Now, could you pour me some, perhapsin asmaler cup, with this much milk?"

"Right away, madonnal" She was soon back.

Elizabeth found the honey jar and stirred in a spoonful.

Francesco watched al thiswith greet interest. "A taste, milady?"

She handed it over. He sipped noisily. "Oh... good, good! Milk and honey much improve the taste!™

Elizabeth dapped butter and grape jelly on her bread and began the best breakfast she had had since
Texas. And while she had him here, she might aswell clear up afew points. "Messer Francesco, about
last night. Would you mind if | asked some questions?”

"Go ahead!" he leaned forward, dmost eagerly.

Wil I'll be darned, she thought. He's the one who should be asking the questions, like, signorina,
how did you cometo bein the river? But he's not going to pry. Shetook along pull at the mocha, then
exhded dowly. "Messer Francesco, you were on theriver rather late yesterday."

"Y es, madonna, fishing after sunset isunusud. It is hard to see anything, even with good lanterns. But
last night was specid.”

"Specid ?'

He pulled apiece of folded paper from his pocket and handed it over to her.

Sheread:

Fisherman! Tonight the House of Venus stands in the sign of Pisces.

"Y our horoscope?’

He nodded. "Doctor Marcos."

She handed it back. Thingswere clearing up just alittle. "Please continue. Pisces? Something about
fih?'

"Perhaps fish. And there was il the question of Venus. She rose from the waters, you'l recal. But
the only water around hereisthe Arno. So, Monna Elisabetta, mostly because of my very greet curiosty,
| was there on the river bank, watching our pescatori. Sure enough, they hauled you out.”

Sheamiled. "I'm very glad you went fishing, Messer Francesco.”

"Soam |." He paused. "We must do something about names. | am smply Francesco.”

"And my friendscal meLisa" From now on, that is!

"Lisa" he murmured. Herolled the word in his mouth, as though he were sampling anew wine. "Yes,
Lisa | likethat very much. Monna Lisa"

It was officidl.

He said dowly, "1 suppose you must return to your friendsthismorning. | will order acarriage soon.
Meanwhile, do we have timeto show you my house?'

"Plenty of time. And certainly, | would liketo see Dianaraagain.”



* * *
16. The Flowers
* * *

Thisisthe central bedchamber," he explained. He pointed to the gigantic four-poster in the center of
the room. "Dianarawas born in that bed. It isnot used at present. The nursery was through that door."

He opened one of the double doorsin the east wall, and they stepped out into an expansive loggiathat
ran haf the length of the house. He pointed to a brilliant patch of sunlight on anearby hill. She gasped; it
Wwas gorgeous.

Helooked at her and smiled. "Dawn comesfirst through that gap in the hills, and coversthe dope,
there, where you see the flowers. Dianaralovesto walk there. She brings home dozens of bouquets, but
for every flower she cuts, ten more spring up.”

They heard throat-clearing sounds in the chamber behind them. They turned to see Dianarawith a
basket full of irises. The girl curtsied deeply. "They arefor you, milady.”

"Ah!" Elizabeth radiated pleasure. As she held out her hands for the basket, she noted that the child's
feet were wet. Obvioudy she had goneinto the fields barefoot so as not to risk her shoes and stockings.
"They are beautiful!" On sudden impulse she bent over and kissed the girl on the mouth.

Dianara grabbed her around the neck, noisily returned the kiss, then turned and ran out of the room,
anging, "Rimarra, rimarral " Shewill stay, shewill stay!

Elizabeth looked down at the imprint of small bare feet in the deep pile of the rug, then quizzicaly up at
Francesco. His face seemed a blend of awe and pleasure.

She did not know what to say. He wants me, she thought. His daughter wants me. | want them. Why
in't something happening?

The man led her down the hal. They stopped by a glass-fronted bookcase. She pointed to one of the
books. "May 1?

He pulled it out for her. "It'sabook about the game of chess, by the Spaniard, Luisde Lucena. Very
indructive, if you like chessthat is”

She opened the flyleaf. On the left a copper plate engraving of a somber bearded man stared up at her
truculently. That face, she thought... looks familiar. Where have | seen him? Ah, yes. The man at the
chesstable at the Cigno Nero! The staring man. The great L ucena, champion of Spain, France, and Italy,
playing thelocalsfor afew ducats? Singing for his supper, asit were?

Shelooked further. On the right, the author and title: Luis Ramirez de Lucena/lRepeticion des Amores
e Arte de Axedres/Lambert Pamart, Impresiar /Vaencial1497. Discourse on Love, and Art of Chess. It
was actualy two booksin one binding. Thefirg, the Discourse, would eventudly attain fame as the most
virulent anti-feminist document of al Spanish literature. Already she detested Luis L ucena.

Shereplaced the volume, then stood and faced her host squardly. " Francesco, you have agreat need
for awoman in your home, awife for you, amother for your daughter, someone to manage the house
and the servants. But you hold back, because it would be your third marriage, and you think you might
be condemning the woman to death. Y ou, amorta, cannot be blamed for what is ordained. Y ou should
make the most of what remains.” She dmost glared at him. Dammit, she thought, propose to me!

Hetook an immense breath, then grasped her hands firmly. "Listen to me, Monna Lisa. Y ou know |
have buried two wives... two very good women, whom | loved dearly. And you must know | am bad
luck. Yet | ask you, despitedl this, will you marry me?*

She knew what her answer was going to be; yet she too had to be honest-- up to apoint. "Before |
answer, let me explain something. On occasion, my ways may seem abit strangeto you. | am from



another country, you know."

"Understood.”

"Secondly, there can be no dowry."

He shook his head. "It isnot required.”

Fine, she thought. Forget the dowry. But with her next statement she knew she was dedling from
srength. "Leonardo wantsto paint me."

Helooked at her in amazement. "Lisa cara, you are avery beautiful woman. But | am amerchant, and
Leonardo paints only noblewomen.”

"l am not beautiful, Francesco. | must correct you there. Still, he wantsto paint me. He asked
yesterday morning, but | had to decline, because our commission was scheduled to return today. But
now | shal stay, and Leonardo will paint my portrait.”

"God isbountiful," he muttered. "The wife of Giocondo, painted by the great Leonardo! | must begin
now, assembling thefee"

"Nofee, my friend."

"How can you say that? He does not paint for nothing."

"Hewill paint me for nothing, but he will keep the portrait.”

"Ah. | see. Well, most remarkable.” He laughed a short half-believing chuckle. "L eonardo resumes
painting, and he paints LaGioconda! So now, MonnaL.isa, will you marry me?"

Still holding hands with him, she bowed dightly. "Milord, you do me grest honor to ask meto be your
wife. | accept with pleasure.”

He embraced her warmly, then held her by the shoulders. "We must send word to your legation to
delay departure, so that they can attend the wedding.”

She thought, Cuthbert Pellar attend the wedding of athird-chair associate? Fat chance! "They cannot
dtay, dear Francesco. Their high liege lords require their immediate return.”

"Oh?Too bad. Well, then, we must at least tell them the good news. I'll send now for the carriage.”

* * *

* * *
17. Lucena
* * *

The carrozza pulled into the piazza of the Cigno Nero and stopped near the big iron doors.

"Pleasewait here," shetold him. "I have to explain things and say goodbye.”

"Of course. Teke dl the time you need.”

Pdlar was waiting for her ingde. "Dammit, Elizabeth, weve been worried sick about you! ™

Shewasimmediately sugpicious. "Cuthbert, what the hdll isgoing on?'

He managed afeeble grin. "First of dl, Elizabeth, 1'd like you to meet Sefior Lucena”

Lucena? She looked around. A gloomy bearded man was shouldering hisway through the front circle
of idlers. yes, it was he-- the great chess master and anti-feminist. A few meters behind him she noted the
two TM cases and the bag of florins.

Shefurther noted that Ralph Larvey was standing off to one sde, armsfolded across his chest. His
face waswresthed in asmile of cold triumph.

A heavy gray lump of concrete began to solidify in her somach.

The Spaniard bowed deeply and gracefully. " Sefiorita, sono lieto di conoscerla.”

Sheignored him. Shewhirled on Pellar. "He suckered you into a game of chess, didn't he?’

The lawyer said weakly. "Hewasjust aloca potser, Elizabeth, but he got lucky.”

" Lucky? Goda mighty, Cuthbert! Do you know who heis?'



"What do you mean?"

"ThisisLuisde Lucena, currently chess champion of Europe!”

"Jesus, Elizabeth, how was | to know? But actually, there's no need to get in an uproar. We can get
everything back. All we haveto do is, you spend an hour with him upgtairs.”

She sared a hisaverted face for afull minute. " Start at the beginning.”

"Well, as| said, he suggested we play.”

She said, "Firgt, though, Ralph and Lucena had alittle discussion, probably using an interpreter.
Right?"

"Well, yeah. How did you know?"

So thisis Raph's revenge, she thought. "Then Ralph came over and said herewas aloca potser, and
you could best him easy. Right?'

Pdllar nodded dumbly.

"And you beat him, that first game.”

"l did. And it was easy."

"Then he suggested alittle wager."

"Yeah. | won again."

"Then you started doubling, and redoubling, and you began losing.”

"Yeeh."

"Andyou lost everything."

He shrugged.

What was |eft to say? When Larvey came over, she murmured, "My compliments, Ralph. That was
very negtly done”

He amiled. "It's nice to be appreciated.”

Pdllar looked at both of them, puzzled. "Honestly, Elizabeth, | tried everything. | think Tony even sent
for Leonardo, but-- "

"Elissbetta”

Shewhirled. " Leonardo! " So he had come; but how could he help?

The artist took her by the elbow and moved her out of earshot of Lucena. He spoke quickly. "First, a
question. How were you able to guide your machine to the day and hour?'

"| received specid training in pattern shifting; it'smuch like chessplay.”

"Areyou fairly good at chess?"

"I'm very good, Leonardo."

"Then you must chalenge him. His stake will be your cases and money. Can you raise a stake?"

She thought amoment. "Y es. And, Maestro, would you be so kind as to be my second?”

"Yes, milady." he stepped over to the Spaniard, and they entered into a heated discussion, with much
waving of arms. Finally Leonardo returned. "He will play one game, for dl that he has taken from Lord
Cut'berto, provided your stake is acceptable.”

"Thank you, Messer Leonardo.” Now it was time to confront the chesslord of Europe. " Sefior
Lucena."

He bowed. " Sefiorita. What stake, please?

She placed both hands behind her neck and unclasped the string of pearls. "They are valued at ten
thousand florins. Examine, if you like."

Pellar gasped. "No! No! Elizabeth, they're rented! "

The Spaniard scowled. "What does he say?"

"He saysthat heiscertain | shdl grind the bottom of the Spanish pig into little sausages.”

"Hal Does he now?' There was an ugly scrape of metd as the Spaniard pulled hisrapier severa
inches out of its scabbard. Elizabeth Gulped. "Listen, why don't we start?' She handed the strand of
pearlsto Leonardo. "There. Leonardo will hold the stake.”

"Then let usdraw for color,” growled the chess magter.

Color wasimportant. She was thinking ahead. She needed a sure-fire opening, something truly
murderous. If she had the white pieces, she could lead the game into the deadly Evans Gambit, invented



by Captain William Evans of the Roya Marinesin 1824. But-- to play the Evans she had to have the
white pieces. There was only one sure way to get white: as odds-giver.

She said, "Therée's the question of odds.”

Hisface hardened. "I do not give odds."

"You? No, of course not you. Asthe stronger player, | give odds."

"You!" helaughed in cold disbdlief.

"Mysdf."

"You are loca. All right, what odds do you give?'

"l shdl play bendato.”

Helooked puzzled. "Blindfold?'

"Y es. Without sight of board or pieces.”

It gave her great pleasure to listen to the gasps. Evidently none of them had ever heard of blindfold
chess. She pulled awhite silk handkerchief from her bodice, tied it about her eyes, and took a chair
facing away from the chesstable. " Set up the pieces. As odds-giver, | take white.”

"But how will you know my moves?'

"Youwill cal them over to me, and | shdl do the samefor you."

Shelistened to therattling of the chessmen asthey were set up behind her.

"Ready," cdled Lucena. "Y our move."

"Pedone al quarto scacco del re," she cdled. Pawnto king four.

Hereplied ingantly. "And pawn to my king's fourth square.”

And the game was on.

On her fourth move she called out, " Pedone al regina cavaliere quattro.” Pawn to queen knight's
fourth. That wasthe critica movein the Evans opening: the pawn offer.

Therewas adead slence. Ha, she thought, he's never seen the Evans before! The question now is, will
he take the bait?

Findly Lucenacalled out, "Bishop takes pawn."

Shehad him.

The game proceeded. The Spaniard's replies began to dow. Hewasin trouble, but he was fighting.
He clustered his piecesin a protective shield about hisking.

Elizabeth paused amoment and considered. The position cried out for asmothered mate. Y es, thereit
was. She called out in afirm clear voice, "'l announce checkmate in two moves.”

Silence. What was going on? Could she have been mistaken? No! She got up and removed her
blindfold and walked over to the table. The position was exactly right. The smother was there.

Lucenalooked up grimly. "Thereisno matein two, sefiorita. Thereisnot mateat dl. Y ou forfet."

" Sefior, there isamatein two." She captured adefending bishop with her queen. ™Y ou must
recapture, yes?"

He grunted, "So | recapture, and you are a queen down, and thereis till no mate.”

"Y our bishop no longer protects this square, sefior. My knight movesin, and mates-- so." She moved
the piece. " Scacco matto! " Checkmate.

The bearded man stared at the board, then at her. His cheeks turned red. He scowled. "All right, it's
checkmate. But one game decides nothing. We shdl play two out of three.”

“No!"

There was acommotion at the doorway.

It was Francesco, with Leonardo right behind him. The artist had evidently gone out for
reinforcements. She groaned. She hadn't wanted to involve her fiance.

Giocondo took in the Situation at a glance. He faced the chess master. The room grew still as he spoke
dowly, quietly, and with great presence. " Sgnor, in mattersinvolving my betrothed, you may address
me." Hisright hand rested lightly on the pommel of his sword.

The Spaniard looked dubioudly at the newcomer, then at Elizabeth, then back at the glowering
merchant. He took one fast longing glance toward the goldbag, then bowed deeply to them dl, and he
18



Elizabeth |et out a deep breath.

Francesco bent over her. "Areyou al right?'

"I amfine." He had asked no questions, and he asked none now. He had smply waded in and
protected her. She said, "Soon, | will explain everything. Just now | must say farewell to my friends
updairs.

"Of course, Lisa. Oh-- Messer Leonardo asked that | return these to you." He handed her the strand
of pearls. "l will wait here."

Pdllar had aready recovered his aplomb. Larvey favored her with athinly-velled scowl. But each of
the two picked up avdise and followed her sllently up the sairs.

Down below, Francesco was cdling for the innkeeper. "Tony! Winefor everyone! Set ‘em up!”

* * *

18. Decison
* * *

United States Army

Memorandum

TO: A. G. Perry, General, Pentagon, Division of Specia Assets

FROM: K. R. Inman, Colonel

RE: Project TM; Patent Interference, Green v. RossO

The Patent Office hasformally dissolved thisinterference, as unpatentable to either party. The decison
is perhaps moot, sSince we are advised by our technical people that the TM cannot be used again for an
indefinite period, owing to strains in the space-time fabric created by our last use. Certain other aspects
of the Project are best reviewed off the record.

(K. R. Inman)

* * *

19. A Smile

* * *

She sat again in the comfortable straight-back chair in Leonardo's bottega. It was early afternoon.
The light was soft, clear, luminous, relaxing-- just right for painting.

On the carpet off to the | eft, Dianara played with the beautiful long-haired cat. Outsidein the garden a
amall fountain splashed. From behind the screen off to the right two unseen musicians were playing
quietly, one on pipes, the other with alyre of the arti's own invention.

Leonardo stood aside from his caval etto-- the three-legged easdl-- and considered her. "And now,"
he said, "we need asmile." Already he was sketching in the outlines of her face with light strokes of the
charcod pencil. As heworked, he murmured to her, dmost as though talking to himself. "Dwell thou on
the happiest moment of they life. Thy nuptia day, perhaps? Or rescue from theriver?”

He watched the subtle change in her face with wonder and ddlight.

Her happiest moment? Ah, she remembered. Pellar and Larvey had stood inside the TM, ready to



leave, in their upper room back at the Black Swan, and waiting impatiently for her to join them. Pdllar
had motioned to her with an imperiousjerk of his chin. She had put her left hand on the handle of the
door and she had swung the panel back and |ooked at both of them.

"That's it!" marveled Leonardo. "Hold that expression.” Oh, yes! Thiswoman was saying something
wonderful about life. And desth, love, suffering, endurance, al woven together, and emergent in fantastic
unity in that smile. What memory, what thought-- thoughts-- had brought this transfiguration?

She was standing just outside the TM, and Pellar had shouted, "Dammit, Gerard, get in herel”

And she had calmly replied, "No, Cuthbert, | will not get in there. If you have further businesswith me,
look for meinthe Louvre.™

Pellar's mouth had dropped. "The Louvre? Wha- ?"

(Her happiest moment? Oh yes, she remembered!)

Next, she had finished what she had come to say, and they had both looked at her, first in blank
disbelief, and findly in pink-cheeked horror.

"And now may | suggest,” she had said swestly, "that the two of you, jointly and severdly, go fuck
yourselves." Then she had dammed the frame door. The TM had shimmered... and vanished.

* * *

* * *
20. DGaVu
* * *

C. Cuthbert Pellar and his new bride spent their honeymaoon in Paris, and on this particular day in
June, mosily because Mrs. Pdllar ingsted on it, they found themsalvesin the Louvre.

They proceeded with the standard treasures, the VVenus de Milo, the Nike of Samothrace, the Hera of
Samos.

"Yes, dear?' hesaid.

"Are we supposed to meet someone here? Y ou keep looking around?”

(Look for mein the Louvre, she had said.)

"No, were not meeting anyone. I'm just trying to see what thereisto see.” God, what amess that had
been, when they got back, and no Elizabeth. It had taken the entire upper echelons of the Pentagon,
working with Barrington Wright and the FBI and the CIA, to hush the thing up. Fortunately, Colonel
Inman was on their side. It was amost as though he had expected Elizabeth to stay behind. He had
provided the basic story, with supporting documents: Elizabeth Gerard was on the passenger list of Itdia
816, theill-fated Concorde blown up over Lisbon by aterrorist bomb. Wright had appointed Pellar to
notify Elizabeth's next of kin. After which the associate had made partner.

Mrs. Pellar sad, "They've got some famous paintingsin here" she said. "What's that thing by
Leonardo daVinci?'

"There were severd."

"Themost famousoneof dl. You know..."

"TheMonalLisa?'

"That'sit. Let'sfind the Mona Lisa. Well have to ask someone.”

Together they walked up to the Renseignements desk, occupied by a bored youth reading a
paperback.

"Sil vous plait, monsieur," said Pellar politdy, "ou se trouve La Mona Lisa?"

The boy didn't look up. He pointed off to hisleft with athumb. "Down that hall, turn right at the
second corridor. No flash.”

A moment later they stood before the masterpiece. "The greatest painting in theworld,” he said softly.



"I met him, you know, Leonardo.”

"I thought he was dead.”

Pdllar was sllent. He didn't want to go into that. Besides, he was studying the portrait. That face.. had
he met her during the time of the deposition? La Gioconda? The wife of arich Florentine named
Giocondo? He was pretty sure he hadn't met any such woman. And yet, it nagged at him. He had seen
thisface-- this transcendent beauty-- before. Where? When?

Think back. Back. The women there...

There had been aservant girl, practicaly achild. And the wife of Tony the innkeeper. And the cook,
an old woman. The only other fema e on the scene had been... she? Look hard. On her forehead. Is
that the TM head-band?

Oh, great God! Don't let it be shel Oh no no no no. He closed his eyes and moaned.

Mrs. Pellar looked up in darm. "Cutie-- 7"

He turned his back to the portrait. "Let's get out of here.”

"But... oh, al right." Shelooked back. Wasn't there something about a smile? Wasthelady smiling?
Hard to say.



